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1 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA UNITED STATES OF AMERICA::
v.:: Case No. 1:21-cr-623 (CRC) KIRSTYN NIEMELA,:: Defendant.: GOVERNMENT'S SENTENCING
MEMORANDUM The United States of America, by and through its attorney, the United States Attorney for the
District of Columbia, respectfully submits this sentencing memorandum in connection with the above-captioned
matter. For the reasons set forth herein, the government requests that this Court sentence Defendant Kirstyn
Niemela to 11 months' incarceration (near the top of the applicable Guidelines range of 6 to 12 months'
incarceration), one year of supervised release, 1 $500 in restitution, a fine of $3,672 (reflecting the amount of
money raised on Niemela's behalf to cover her personal and legal expenses in this matter, using an appeal to
donors focused on her participation in the January 6 riot at the Capitol), and the mandatory $70 in special
assessments. 2 I. Introduction Defendant Kirstyn Niemela, a 35-year-old construction worker, participated in the
January 6, 2021, attack on the United States Capitol—a violent attack that forced an interruption of Congress's
certification of the 2020 Electoral College vote count, threatened the peaceful transfer 1 For multiple
misdemeanor convictions, the court can impose a maximum of one year of supervised release on each count. 18
U.S.C. § 3583(b)(3). Multiple terms of supervised release must run concurrently. 18 U.S.C. § 3624(e). 2 By
statute, Niemela must pay $25 for each of the two Section 1752 offenses, which are Class A misdemeanors, and
$10 for each of the two Section 5104 offenses, which are Class B misdemeanors. 18 U.S.C. § 3013(a)(1)(A)(ii-
iii). 1 1 of power after the 2020 Presidential election, injured more than one hundred police officers, and resulted
in more than 2.8 million dollars in losses.3 After a four-day trial, the jury convicted Niemela of four crimes: one
count each of violating 18 U.S.C. § 1752(a)(1) (Entering and Remaining in a Restricted Building or Grounds), 18
U.S.C. § 1752(a)(2) (Disorderly or Disruptive Conduct in a Restricted Building or Grounds), 40 U.S.C. § 5104(e)
(2)(D) (Disorderly or Disruptive Conduct on Capitol Grounds or in any of the Capitol Buildings), and 40 U.S.C. §
5104(e)(2)(G) (Parading, Demonstrating, or Picketing in any of the Capitol Buildings). As explained herein, a
sentence of 11 months in jail is appropriate in this case because Niemela: (1) repeatedly called for and supported
violence against politicians in the days leading up to January 6, 2021; (2) entered the Capitol on January 6
through the Senate Wing Doors while a loud alarm was blaring and other rioters were entering the building
through smashed-out windows adjacent to those doors; (3) responded to a Tweet immediately after entering the
Capitol Building in a manner that demonstrated she knew her conduct and presence were unlawful and intended
to disrupt Congress; (4) was part of three separate breaches of police lines—one in the Crypt, a second near the
Memorial Doors, and a third just outside the House Chamber where members of Congress and their staff were
sheltered in place—in which the mob threatened officers and then overran them; (5) entered the Rayburn
Conference room and posed for celebratory photographs; (6) spent approximately 21 minutes inside the Capitol
building; (7) suggested further violent confrontations with elected leaders were warranted long after January 6;
(8) has never expressed remorse for her conduct on January 6 and claims she is a victim of this prosecution; and
3 The approximate loss suffered as a result of the siege at the United States Capitol was $2,881,360.20. That
amount reflects, among other things, damage to the United States Capitol building and grounds and certain costs
borne by the United States Capitol Police. 2 1 (9) has one conviction and two arrests for crimes involving violent
conduct before and after January 6. The Court must also consider that Niemela's conduct on January 6, like the
conduct of hundreds of other rioters, took place in the context of a large and violent riot that relied on numbers to
overwhelm police officers and disrupt the congressional proceedings. But for her actions alongside so many
others, the riot likely would have failed. Considering all of the relevant factors, the government believes that a
sentence of 11 months' imprisonment is warranted. II. Factual and Procedural Background The January 6, 2021
Attack on the Capitol To avoid unnecessary exposition, the government refers to the general summary of the
attack on the U.S. Capitol contained in the background facts to which the parties stipulated at trial, Government's
Trial Exhibit ("GEX") 1201. Defendant Niemela's Role in the January 6, 2021, Attack on the Capitol On January
5, 2021, Niemela traveled from New Hampshire to Washington, D.C. along with her then-girlfriend, Stephanie
Chiguer, 4 and friend, Mark Leach, to attend the "Stop the Steal" rally scheduled for January 6, 2021, at the
White House Ellipse. Niemela came to Washington, D.C. to protest Congress's certification of the Electoral
College vote for the 2020 presidential election. In the days leading up to January 6, Niemela repeatedly made
statements embracing and encouraging violence against lawmakers. For example, on January 3, 2021, she
communicated on 4 Chiguer was separately prosecuted in United States v. Niemela, et al., 1:22-cr-25-APM, and
pleaded guilty, via plea agreement with the government, to one count of violating 40 U.S.C. § 5104(e)(2)(G)
(Parading, Demonstrating, or Picketing in a Capitol Building). Chiguer's sentencing is scheduled for June 9,
2023, before Judge Mehta. 3 1 Facebook that she wanted "gitmo for all our government." See GEX 816. Later
that same day, she shared on Facebook an explicitly threatening Tweet from another Twitter user: Image 1:
Tweet shared by Niemela on Facebook on January 3, 2021 GEX 818. The next day, Niemela posted a
photograph of a ballistic helmet with a sticker reading "Kill the Deep State" and "WWG1WGA" 5 on it, GEX 820,
and wrote "The shit coming out finally is insane. Let's hang em high." GEX 821. On January 5, 2021, Niemela,
Chiguer, and Leach met co-defendant Michael Eckerman and his cousin at their hotel in Washington, D.C. The
next day, on January 6, 2021, the five of them attended the "Stop the Steal" rally together. Niemela wore a black
sweatshirt reading "We the People Are Pissed Off," an American flag as a cape, and mirrored sunglasses. GEX
920. 5 "WWG1WGA" stands for "Where We Go 1, We Go All," and is a slogan associated with the QAnon
conspiracy theory movement. 4 1 Image 2: Chiguer (white outline) and Niemela (yellow outline) on January 6,
2021 After the rally, Niemela and her companions, including Chiguer and Eckerman, walked to the U.S. Capitol.
While on the west side of the Capitol grounds, they observed police officers wearing riot gear and attempting to
contain the mob. They saw rioters fighting the police. They heard explosions. They smelled gaseous irritants.
They walked past fencing that bore signs reading "AREA CLOSED By order of the United States Capitol Police
Board" every few feet. GEX 203. Despite these clear signs that their presence on Capitol grounds was unlawful,
Niemela was not deterred. To the contrary, she climbed a tree and took a "selfie" photograph that shows no one
else near her on the grass beyond the fencing, making it obvious that she was within the restricted area of the
Capitol grounds. See Image 3, below, GEX 823.4. Moreover, while she and Mark Leach were standing just ten
feet apart on the grass near the West Plaza, Leach was struck with a munition carrying chemical gas that burned



his eyes and made it difficult for him to breathe. Tr. at 753:18- 754:25. 5 1 Image 3: Selfie photograph taken by
Niemela after she climbed up a tree within the restricted area, as denoted by the white "AREA CLOSED" signs
on the fencing behind her Niemela, Eckerman, and Chiguer (hereinafter referred to as the "trio") thereafter took
advantage of the mob's breaches of barricades and police lines and walked underneath scaffolding erected on
the Capitol's West Plaza in preparation for the upcoming presidential inauguration. They then followed the mob
up the northwest exterior stairs, leading them to the Capitol's Upper West Terrace. See Image 4, below. Image 4:
Eckerman (blue box), Niemela (green box), and Chiguer (orange arrow) climbing the northwest stairs to the
Upper West Terrace, as captured in video recorded by another rioter 6 1 The trio walked past broken windows
and entered the Capitol through the Senate Wing Doors at approximately 2:24 p.m., just 11 minutes after those
doors first had been breached. See Image 5, below; GEX 102, 408. Image 5: Niemela (circled in yellow) entering
the Capitol building at 2:23:57 p.m. through the Senate Wing Doors as another rioter climbs through the broken
window to her left At the time the trio entered the Capitol, loud security alarms were ringing, GEX 408, and rioters
were climbing in through the broken windows, GEX 101, 102—both clear signs to Niemela that her entry was
unlawful. In fact, only one minute after entering the Capitol building, Niemela responded to a Tweet from another
Twitter user, see Image 6 below, which a friend shared with her via Facebook: 7 1 Image 6: Tweet to which
Niemela responded immediately after entering the Capitol building GEX 822. In response to that Tweet, Niemela
apparently sent her own video, which the government was unable to recover from a search warrant executed on
her Facebook account, 6 though it appears based on context that it captured the destruction occurring at the
U.S. Capitol, as her friends replied: "DO ITTTT;" "Take the shit down we're done;" and "Fk it all up." Id. In that
context, Niemela's reply to the above Tweet directly demonstrates that she knew her conduct and presence were
unlawful and intended to disrupt Congress. Interior Breach #1: Niemela, Eckerman, and Chiguer Participate in
Breach in the Crypt After entering the Capitol building, the trio turned right and entered the Crypt. There, they
found a large crowd of rioters temporarily stymied by a group of approximately ten U.S. Capitol 6 The Facebook
search warrant return reflected that Niemela sent a video file during this private chat conversation, to which her
friends reacted as described above, but the actual video itself was missing from the return—likely because
Niemela deleted it or because Facebook later deactivated her account and failed to preserve video files pursuant
to its content storage policies. 8 1 Police ("USCP") officers who had formed a line across the center of the Crypt,
using their bodies to block the mob from further accessing the Capitol. GEX 502 at 00:00-00:45. For a brief time,
the situation was a stalemate, though the officers were massively outnumbered. Id. After a few minutes, however,
the mob of rioters—within which the trio was towards the back—surged forward, overwhelming the officers with
the force of their collective bodies and breaching the police line. GEX 502 at 3:09. Dozens, if not hundreds, of
rioters were ahead of the trio in this space; yet the trio still made their way through the crowd to within three feet
of USCP Lt. Brooke Detorie, who testified at trial, and her trapped colleagues. See id.; see also GEX 104,
Images 7 and 8, below. Image 7 (left): Rioter footage capturing the line of outnumbered police officers blocking
the mob from advancing through the Crypt Image 8 (right): Niemela (circled in yellow) amongst the mob as it
pushes through the police Interior Breach #2: Eckerman—with Niemela and Chiguer Close Behind—Pushes
Officer Near Memorial Doors, Leading to Breach and Rioter Dispersal Within the Capitol Building The mob,
including the trio, thereafter encountered a bottleneck. The Crypt exit funneled them into a small corridor near the
Memorial Doors, a set of external doors to t


























































